

REVIEW



Harnessing Hippo in the heart: Hippo/Yap signaling and applications to heart regeneration and rejuvenation

Zhiqiang Lin^a, William T. Pu^{a,b,*}

^a Department of Cardiology, Children's Hospital Boston, USA ^b Harvard Stem Cell Institute, Harvard University, USA

Received 6 February 2014; received in revised form 15 April 2014; accepted 19 April 2014 Available online 6 May 2014

Abstract The adult mammalian heart exhibits limited regenerative capacity after myocardial injury, a shortcoming that is responsible for the current lack of definitive treatments for heart failure. A search for approaches that might enhance adult heart regeneration has led to interest in the Hippo/Yap signaling pathway, a recently discovered signaling pathway that regulates cell proliferation and organ growth. Here we provide a brief overview of the Hippo/Yap pathway and its known roles in the developing and adult heart. We discuss the implications of Hippo/Yap signaling for regulation of cardiomyocyte death and regeneration.

© 2014 Published by Elsevier B.V. Open access under CC BY-NC-ND license.

Contents

Introduction	572
Drosophila growth regulation by Hippo/Yap signaling	572
Hippo/Yap signaling in mammals	572
Regulation of Yap in the submembrane compartment	572
Yap/TAZ regulation of cellular proliferation and organ size	574
Hippo/Yap pathway in the heart	574
Hippo/Yap pathway in heart development	576
Hippo/Yap signaling pathway in cardiac hypertrophy and apoptosis	576
Hippo/Yap in heart regeneration	577
Concluding comments: harnessing Hippo/Yap for heart disease therapy	578
Acknowledgment	579
References	579

* Corresponding author at: Department of Cardiology, Children's Hospital Boston, Enders 1254, 300 Longwood Ave., Boston, MA 02115, USA. Fax: +1 617 730 0140.

E-mail address: wpu@enders.tch.harvard.edu (W.T. Pu).

Introduction

Myocardial infarction (MI) is a leading cause of mortality and morbidity. Although surgical and medical advances over the past several decades have greatly improved survival after acute MI (Dargie, 2005), the long term prognosis of these patients remains poor. A major reason is the heart has limited regenerative capacity. Because of the refractoriness of adult cardiomyocytes to re-enter the cell cycle, the billions of cardiomyocytes lost during acute myocardial infarction cannot be restored, being replaced instead by fibrotic myocardial tissue with little contractile function, poor diastolic compliance, and a propensity to arrhythmia. As an adaptive response, the surviving cardiomyocytes undergo pathological hypertrophic growth through activation of neurohumoral signaling pathways. Over the long term, this adverse remodeling following MI has a deleterious effect on cardiomyocyte function and survival, and ultimately leads to congestive heart failure.

Current post-MI pharmacological management suppresses neurohumoral activation that drives pathological cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. Although this strategy has been successful for heart failure management, clinical trial evidence with new neurohormonal targets did not show greater salutary effects (Mehra et al., 2003), suggesting that we are reaching a ceiling for this approach and pinpointing the need to develop new therapeutic targets.

One attractive strategy to improve outcome in heart failure is to regenerate damaged myocardium by making more functional cardiomyocytes. Extensive work over the past two decades has overturned the prevailing dogma that adult cardiomyocytes do not undergo cell division by demonstrating that adult cardiomyocytes do proliferate, albeit at a low rate (Zhou et al., 2012). Several signaling pathways have been shown to regulate cardiomyocyte proliferation, such as IGF1 (Duerr et al., 1995), perisotin (Kuhn et al., 2007), neuregulin (Baliga et al., 1999; Bersell et al., 2009), and fibroblast growth factor (Engel et al., 2005). Recently, the newly defined Hippo/Yap pathway was found to play essential roles in the regulation of heart development and postnatal cardiomyocyte proliferation. In this review, we summarize recent advances in understanding the regulation of the Hippo/Yap signaling pathway, and the role of this pathway in the developing and adult heart. In addition, we discuss opportunities for therapeutic manipulation of Hippo/Yap signaling to enhance myocardial repair and regeneration.

Drosophila growth regulation by Hippo/Yap signaling

How multicellular organisms establish and maintain proper organ size is a long-standing puzzle. Genetic screens in *Drosophila* for abnormal growth regulation phenotypes identified Merlin (Hamaratoglu et al., 2006), Warts (Xu et al., 1995), Hippo (Wu et al., 2003), Salvador (Tapon et al., 2002), Mats (Lai et al., 2005), and other mutants with similar phenotypes of tissue overgrowth, increased cell proliferation, and suppressed apoptosis. The shared phenotypes of these mutants suggested that the affected genes function in a common pathway that regulates organ growth. Further genetic and biochemical studies confirmed that these genes encode a kinase cascade, in which Merlin, a membraneassociated cytoskeletal scaffolding protein, genetically functions upstream of Hippo, a Ste-20 type kinase that phosphorylates and activates Warts. Salvador, a WW-repeat protein, serves as a scaffold to enhance Hippo activity (Wu et al., 2003), while Mats, a *Mob* superfamily protein, interacts with Warts to facilitate its kinase activity (Lai et al., 2005).

The missing link between the Hippo kinase cascade and gene expression regulation was discovered by Duojia Pan's group in 2005 (Huang et al., 2005). A yeast two hybrid screen using Warts as the bait identified the transcriptional coactivator Yorkie as a Warts binding protein. Follow-up experiments showed that Yorkie promotes cell proliferation and tissue growth, that its transcriptional activity is negatively regulated by Hippo signaling, and that it is directly phosphorylated by Warts. Moreover, Yorkie inactivation blocked the tissue overgrowth phenotype of Hippo kinase cascade mutants, indicating that phosphorylation and inactivation of Yorkie is a major output of Hippo signaling.

Yorkie is a transcriptional co-activator that lacks intrinsic DNA binding activity. The DNA binding transcription factor Scalloped was identified as a major Yorkie partner that is required for tissue overgrowth in Yorkie gain of function or Hippo pathway loss of function (Zhang et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2008; Zhao et al., 2008). Interestingly, over-expression of Yorkie but not Scalloped caused tissue overgrowth, suggesting that Yorkie, the protein modulated by Hippo signaling, is limiting for tissue growth rather than Scalloped (Wu et al., 2008).

Hippo/Yap signaling in mammals

The Hippo/Yap signaling pathway is highly conserved between *Drosophila* and mammals. The mammalian orthologs of *Drosophila* Hippo, Salvador, Warts, Mats, Yorkie and Scalloped, are Mst1/2 (mammalian sterile twenty-like), Sav1 (Salvador-like homolog 1), Lats1/2 (large tumor suppressor), Mob1, Yap (YES-associated protein), and Tead1–4 (TEA domain family member), respectively. The presence of multiple isoforms of many of the mammalian orthologs has made their genetic analysis in mammals complicated. In the remainder of this review, we will use the mammal nomenclature to describe Hippo/Yap pathway components.

Before the Hippo pathway was delineated in *Drosophila*, several crucial components of the pathway had already been cloned in mammals (Tapon et al., 2002; Xiao et al., 1991; Sudol, 1994; Creasy and Chernoff, 1995; Tao et al., 1999). The functions of these crucial Hippo pathway components have been well addressed in several reviews on Tead (Pobbati and Hong, 2013), Yap (Wang et al., 2009), and Mst (Matallanas et al., 2008). Several excellent reviews of Hippo/Yap signaling have also been published recently (Pan, 2007; Yu and Guan, 2013; Zhao et al., 2010). This section will focus on the recently defined aspects of mammalian Hippo/Yap signaling (summa-rized in Fig. 1).

Regulation of Yap in the submembrane compartment

In response to extracellular cues and cell-cell interactions, the Hippo kinase cascade restrains cell proliferation and



Figure 1 The mammalian Hippo/*Yap* signaling pathway. *Yap* activity is regulated by phosphorylation, subcellular localization, and degradation. Membrane receptors receive intracellular cues and relay them to the sub-membrane compartment. At adherens junctions (I), E-cadherin transduces cell–cell contact information via α/β -catenin. Under conditions of high cell density, α -catenin forms a complex with phosphorylated *Yap* and 14-3-3 proteins, thereby sequestering *Yap*. Growth factor signaling through GPCRs (II) inhibits *Lats* phosphorylation of *Yap* through a mechanism involving Rho GTPases and actin polymerization. The classic Hippos kinase cascade (III), containing the kinases *MST1/2* (mammalian Hippo ortholog) and *Lats1/2* (mammalian Warts), phosphorylates *Yap* to restrain its nuclear localization and transcriptional activity. The Hippo kinase cascade is regulated by NF2 through uncharacterized upstream receptors. *Lats* also phosphorylates AMOT, a *Yap* binding protein. Phosphorylated AMOT dissociates from F-actin and brings bound *Yap* into the cytoplasm, where the complex is degraded by the ubiquitin proteasome system via interaction with AIP4. *Yap* is also phosphorylated by YES/SRC (IV), under the control of uncharacterized upstream receptors. *Yap* is a transcriptional co-activator, and its nuclear entry is promoted by dephosphorylation by PP2A. Nuclear *Yap* promotes mitogenic and anti-apoptotic gene transcription, canonically through interaction with *Tead* transcription factors. *Yap* also enhances Wnt/ β -catenin signaling through physical interactions with β -catenin. *Yap* transcriptional activity is terminated by phosphorylation by a nuclear kinase, possibly Lats1/2, leading to 14-3-3 protein binding and nuclear export.

organ growth by phosphorylating and inhibiting Yap. However, the mechanisms by which extracellular cues modulate Hippo kinase activity are incompletely understood. Recent work from Yin et al. partially filled this gap by elucidating how NF2, a protein that links cytoskeletal components with proteins in the cell membrane, controls Hippo pathway activity (Yin et al., 2013). NF2-deficient livers had decreased Lats and Yap phosphorylation. Mst was required for NF2induced Lats activation, but unexpectedly NF2 deficiency increased Mst activity. Further biochemical studies accounted for these observations by showing that NF2 recruits Lats to the plasma membrane through direct binding. Sav1 similarly recruits Mst to the plasma membrane, where it phosphorylates and activates Lats. Liver specific single knock of either NF2 or Sav1 resulted in a mild increase of liver size, but double knock-out caused massive liver overgrowth. Based on these data, the authors raised a "parallel model" of Hippo pathway signal transduction, in which NF2 and Sav1 act as scaffolds to recruit Lats and Mst, respectively, to the membrane. In the submembrane signal transduction compartment formed by these proteins, Mst phosphorylates and activates Lats, which in turn phosphorylates and inhibits Yap.

The extracellular signals and their receptors that regulate the mammalian Hippo/Yap pathway are incompletely understood. Yu et al. found that Yap activity is regulated downstream of certain G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs) (Yu et al., 2012). Specifically, they showed that the lipids lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) and sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) stimulate Yap activity by binding to specific GPCRs that couple to the $G\alpha_{12/13}$ subfamily of heterotrimeric G proteins. $G\alpha_{12/13}$ signaling inhibited Lats activity through a signal transduction pathway involving Rho GTPases and actin cytoskeleton organization, and independent of Mst. On the other hand, epinephrine stimulation of the β_2 -adrenergic receptor, a GPCR coupled to $G\alpha_s$, enhanced Yap phosphorylation and thereby inhibited Yap activity.

The Hippo kinase cascade interacts with and phosphorylates Yap in the submembrane compartment, but Yap exerts its main actions in the nucleus. 14-3-3 proteins, highly conserved phosphoserine binding proteins that often bind transcription factors (Eckardt, 2001), are crucial chaperones that mediate proper Yap subcellular localization. In the absence of bound targets, 14-3-3 proteins reside in the nucleus. Target protein phosphorylation leads to 14-3-3 protein binding and export of the protein complex from the nucleus to the cytoplasm (Brunet et al., 2002). 14-3-3 proteins are required for Yap nuclear export (Dong et al., 2007), but it is not clear whether Lats is responsible for Yap phosphorylation in the nucleus.

Yap activity is regulated by cell-cell contacts, as contact inhibition leads to Yap phosphorylation, 14-3-3 binding, and exclusion from the nucleus. Yap interacts with α -catenin and angiomotin (AMOT), components of intercellular junctions which modulate Hippo/Yap signaling in response to cell-cell interactions. α -Catenin links cadherins, calcium-dependent intercellular adhesion molecules, with the actin cytoskeleton at adherens junctions. In keratinocytes, α -catenin directly interacts with 14-3-3 proteins, and the interaction is enhanced in the presence of phospho-Yap. α -Catenin negatively regulates Yap activity by recruiting it to the adherens junctions and the submembrane region (Schlegelmilch et al., 2011). Furthermore, the protein complex formed by α -catenin, 14-3-3 and phospho-Yap inhibits Yap dephosphorylation mediated by the phosphatase PP2Ac (Schlegelmilch et al., 2011). Angiomotin (AMOT) is another intercellular junction protein that regulates Yap activity (Zhao et al., 2011). AMOT binds to Yap, recruiting Yap to the sub-membrane region near intercellular junctions. AMOT also binds to filamentous actin (F-actin), and this interaction is regulated by Lats, making AMOT both a regulator and an effector of Hippo signaling. AMOT phosphorylation dissembles it from filamentous actin and releases it from junction complexes into the cytoplasm (Dai et al., 2013; Chan et al., 2013). Phosphorylated AMOT recruits the ubiquitin E3 ligase atrophin-1 interacting protein 4, leading to degradation of AMOT-bound Yap by the ubiquitin proteasome system (Adler et al., 2013).

Actin dynamics are crucial for Hippo signal transduction, as evidenced by the fact that inhibiting actin cytoskeleton dynamics initiated Hippo signaling in both *Drosophila* and mammalian cells (Dupont et al., 2011; Fernandez et al., 2011). Both actin polymerization inhibitor Latrunculin B and Rho GTPase inhibitor C3 promoted NF2 and Lats interaction (Yin et al., 2013) and increased Lats activity (Yu et al., 2012). How actin dynamics regulate Lats activity is an important gap in our understanding of Hippo signal transduction. Because the submembrane region near adherens junctions is enriched for both Hippo pathway components and actin cytoskeleton, this subcellular compartment is likely to be the arena in which actin dynamics modulate Lats.

Yap/TAZ regulation of cellular proliferation and organ size

As the crucial link between the Hippo kinase cascade and gene transcription, Yap has been intensely studied since its identification as an effector of the Hippo pathway (Huang et al., 2005). Yap has 5 HXRXXS motifs that are potential Lats1/2 phosphorylation sites. Mutation of serine 127 to alanine (S127A) largely abolished Mst2/Lats2-induced Yap phosphorylation, 14-3-3 binding, and Yap nuclear export, indicating that Yap S127 is the major Lats1/2 phosphorylation site that regulates its nuclear/cytoplasmic distribution (Zhao et al., 2007). Yap S127 phosphorylation did not directly affect Yap and Tead interaction, but rather decreased the interaction between Yap and Tead due Yap cytoplasmic localization.

In the liver, overexpression of activated Yap (Yap[S127A]) for one week doubled the liver size. This dramatic effect on organ size was due to increased proliferation and decreased apoptosis of liver cells (Dong et al., 2007; Camargo et al., 2007). In the cultured mammalian cells, Hippo/Yap signaling has been shown to be central to contact inhibition: cell–cell contacts activate Hippo to restrain Yap, thereby limiting cell proliferation. Yap overexpression overcomes contact inhibition in a *Tead*-dependent manner (Zhao et al., 2007). Yap promotes cell proliferation by stimulating the expression of *Ccna2, Ccnb1, Cdc2, Aurka, Aurkb*, and *Cdc25b* (von Gise et al., 2012). At the same time, Yap limits cellular apoptosis by stimulating expression of *Birc5* and *Birc2* (Dong et al., 2007).

As a vital transcriptional regulator, Yap is a nodal point regulated by numerous upstream signaling pathways besides the canonical Hippo kinase cascade, including the YES/SRC tyrosine kinase pathway, the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway, and the JNK pathway. Yap was first identified as a YES-associated protein (Sudol, 1994). In osteoblast cells, Yap directly interacts with RUNX2 to suppress its transcriptional activity. The phosphorylation of Yap by YES/SRC tyrosine kinase is required for Yap to interact with RUNX2, as blocking YES/SRC kinase activity abolished the interaction between these two proteins (Zaidi et al., 2004). In tumor cells, Wnt signaling regulates Yap expression both transcriptionally and post-transcriptionally: in colorectal carcinoma cells, the β -catenin/TCF4 complex directly regulated Yap expression (Konsavage et al., 2012), while in liver cancer cells the Wnt/ β -catenin downstream target Tribbles homolog 2 (TRIB2) stabilized Yap by preventing its degradation (Wang et al., 2013). Conversely, Yap also regulates canonical Wnt signaling by direct interaction with β -catenin. This interaction modulates β -catenin/TCF transcriptional activity (Heallen et al., 2011) and β -catenin subcellular localization (Imajo et al., 2012). In a screen for kinases that directly phosphorylate Yap, Tomlinso et al. found that JNKs are robust Yap kinases (Tomlinson et al., 2010). This study showed that PKC α and ERK2 also phosphorylate Yap. These studies indicate that Yap is a key nodal point regulated by multiple signaling pathways.

Hippo/Yap pathway in the heart

The fetal heart grows primarily by expansion of cardiomyocyte number (hyperplastic growth), while the postnatal heart grows mainly by enlargement of cardiomyocytes (hypertrophic growth). Studies of gain and loss of function mutations in Hippo/Yap pathway components in the heart (Table 1) have implicated this pathway in regulating both forms of heart growth.

Mouse model	Organ phenotype	CM size	CM apoptosis	CM prolif.	Ref.
Hippo activation/Yap loss Mst1	of function				
αMHC- <i>Mst1,</i> late fetal heart	Dilated cardiomyopathy; premature death; absence of compensatory cardiac hypertrophic growth.	↔	Î	ND	Yamamoto et al. (2003)
Lats2					
αMHC- <i>Lats2</i> , late fetal heart Yap ^{flox}	Heart dysfunction, small and dilated hearts	Ļ	\leftrightarrow	ND (↑ in TAC)	Matsui et al. (2008)
x Nkx2.5–Cre, E7.5–	Small fetal heart, fetal demise	ND	ND	Ļ	von Gise et al. (2012), Xin et al. (2011), Xin et al. (2013), Del Re et al. (2013)
x Tnnt2–Cre, E7.5–	Small fetal heart, fetal demise	ND	\leftrightarrow	\downarrow	
x αMHC–Cre, ~E12.5–	Dilated, lethal cardiomyopathy with normal	↓	↑	Ļ	
	CM number; impaired neonatal and adult heart regeneration	(het; in MI)	(KO or het MI)	(KO or het in MI)	(het; in MI)
Tead1–lacZ, constitutive knockout	Small fetal heart, fetal demise	ND	ND	ND	Chen et al. (1994)
Hippo inhibition/Yap gain	of function				
Sav1 ^{flox}					
x Nkx2.5–Cre, E7.5–x Nkx2.5–Cre, E7.5–	Large fetal heart, postnatal demise	↔	↔	↑	Heallen et al. (2011), Heallen et al. (2013)
x αMHC–MCM, adult	Normal heart function. Heart size not reported. Extended window for neonatal heart regeneration; improved outcome after MI	Ţ	ND	Î	
Mst					
<i>Mst1</i> /2 ^{flox} x Nkx2.5–Cre, E7.5–	Large fetal heart	ND	ND	ND	Heallen et al. (2011), Yamamoto et al. (2003), Odashima et al. (2007)
αMHC-DN- <i>Mst1</i> , late fetal heart	Normal cardiac function; preserved heart function post-MI	↔	↓ in I/R	↔ in MI	
Lats2 Lats1/2 ^{flox} x Nkx2.5–Cre, E7.5–	Large fetal heart	ND	ND	ND	Heallen et al. (2011), Matsui et al. (2008), Heallen et al. (2013)
Lats1/2 ^{flox} x αMHC-MCM, adult	Normal heart function. Heart size not reported. Extended window for neonatal heart regeneration; improved outcome after MI	Ţ	ND	Î	(200)
αMHC-DN- <u>Lats</u> , late fetal heart Yan Gain of function	Biventricular hypertrophy, normal heart function	↑	\downarrow in TAC	ND	
cTNT-Cre; Rosa26 ^{fs-rtTA} ; ColTRE-a <i>YAP</i> ; Dox E8.5-	Cardiac overgrowth, embryonic lethal.	ND	⇔	î	von Gise et al. (2012), von Gise et al. (2012), Xin et al. (2011), Xin et al. (2013)
					(continued on next page)

Mouse model	Organ phenotype	CM size	CM apoptosis	CM prolif.	Ref.
β MHC-a <i>Yap</i> , E9-	Large fetal heart, viable to adulthood	ND	ND	1	
αMHC-a <i>Yap</i> , late fetal heart	Increased heart size; Enhanced cardiac regeneration.	↔	↓ in MI	Ŷ	
cTNT-Cre; Rosa26 ^{fs-rtTA} ; ColTRE-aYAP; Dox P0- <i>Tead1</i>	Increased heart size and CM proliferation	↔	↔	Ŷ	
MCK– <i>Tead1</i> , perinatal	Age dependent heart dysfunction and fibrosis without cardiac hypertrophy	ND	ND	ND	Tsika et al. (2010)

Table summarizes mouse models reported with gain or loss of function in the Hippo kinase cascade or in Yap. Approximate stage of the genetic manipulation is indicated based on the general properties of the promoter used. cTNT–Cre; Rosa26fs–rtTA; ColTRE– α YAP is a cardiac-specific, Dox inducible strategy to express activated Yap (von Gise et al., 2012).

Hippo/Yap pathway in heart development

The important role of the Hippo kinase cascade in suppressing cell proliferation led Heallen, Martin, and colleagues to hypothesize that Hippo signaling deficiency would cause cardiac overgrowth. This hypothesis was supported by the cardiac-restricted inactivation of *Mst1/2*, *Sav1*, and *Lats2*, which resulted in markedly enlarged hearts due to increased cardiomyocyte proliferation, trabecular expansion, and thickening of the compact myocardium (Heallen et al., 2011). However, overall cardiac structure was preserved, suggesting a selective role of Hippo signaling in cardiac growth control.

To test the hypothesis that Yap is a critical downstream effector of the Hippo kinase cascade in heart growth regulation, our group and the Olson group studied the effect of Yap gain or loss of function on heart development (von Gise et al., 2012; Xin et al., 2011). As in the Hippo-deficient mutants, overall cardiac architecture was preserved in Yap gain or loss of function. Cardiomyocyte-specific Yap inactivation early in heart development markedly depressed cardiomyocyte proliferation and caused dramatic cardiac hypoplasia. On the other hand, cardiomyocyte-specific expression of Yap[S127A] enhanced cardiomyocyte proliferation and caused profound cardiac overgrowth. The overgrowth was particularly striking in the trabecular myocardium, which is among the first cardiomyocyte populations to have withdrawn from the cell cycle. These data suggest that Hippo/Yap signaling may participate in limiting trabecular cardiomyocyte proliferation, and that the activation of Yap is sufficient to sustain cardiomyocyte cell cycle activity. Indeed, Yap activation in the neonatal heart similarly delayed cardiomyocyte cell cycle withdrawal, leading to cardiomegaly.

Tead transcription factors (Wu et al., 2008; Zhao et al., 2008), represented by Tead1–4 in mammals, are the canonical transcription factor partners of Yap. *Tead1* loss of function in the germline caused mid-gestational fetal loss due to cardiac hypoplasia (Chen et al., 1994). Yap–Tead interaction is required for Yap mitogenic activity in cardiomyocytes, as a peptide inhibitor of this interaction blocked Yap-driven cardiomyocyte cell cycle re-entry in vitro (von Gise et al., 2012). Furthermore, a Yap point mutant defective in this interaction (Yap S79A), failed to support normal fetal cardiac growth (von Gise et al., 2012). Tead transcription factors bind to the MCAT transcription factor binding motif. This motif is associated with striated muscle genes (Yoshida, 2008), suggesting that Tead, and perhaps its partner Yap, may have specialized roles in regulating muscle gene expression. Precedence for this possibility exists, as *Drosophila* Yorkie and Scalloped have specialized roles in regulating eye photoreceptor differentiation, independent of their growthpromoting roles (Jukam et al., 2013).

Ongoing studies indicate that Yap regulates heart growth and cardiomyocyte proliferation through multiple mechanisms. Hippo/Yap appears to regulate Wnt signaling. Cardiac Sav1 inactivation caused β -catenin translocation into the nucleus and up-regulation of canonical Wnt pathway target genes (Heallen et al., 2011). Yap was shown to physically interact with β -catenin and to stimulate β -catenin/TCF transcriptional activity. Moreover, β -catenin heterozygosity suppressed the cardiac overgrowth phenotype of Hippodeficient embryos. In agreement with these data, transgenic expression of activated Yap in fetal mouse hearts increased Wht signaling (Xin et al., 2011). A second mechanism of Yap cardiac growth regulation involves IGF signaling. Transgenic Yap activation stimulated the IGF signal axis, a positive regulator of cardiomyocyte proliferation, hypertrophy, and survival (Xin et al., 2011). IGF pathway activation may enhance Wht/ β -catenin signaling, as Akt-mediated phosphorylation and inactivation of GSK3B enhances B-catenin stability. A third mechanism of Yap cardiac growth regulation is the transcriptional regulation of a number of cell cycle regulators. Activation of Yap in neonatal cardiomyocytes upregulated cell cycle regulators, indicating that Yap directly or indirectly stimulates expression of these cell cycle regulators (von Gise et al., 2012).

Hippo/Yap signaling pathway in cardiac hypertrophy and apoptosis

Adult mammalian cardiomyocytes have limited proliferative capacity, and thus increased size of the adult heart with

Table (constituted)

exercise or disease is caused mainly by cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. In adult heart, the functions of the Hippo pathway kinases Mst and Lats were characterized in a series of studies carried out by the Sadoshima group, in which the effects of increasing or decreasing kinase activity were probed by cardiomyocyte-specific, transgenic overexpression of the candidate gene or a dominant negative mutant. In the case of Mst1, α MHC promoter driven expression of wild type Mst1 increased cardiomyocyte apoptosis, decreased heart function and ventricular wall thickness, and caused death as early as 15 days after birth (Yamamoto et al., 2003). Overexpression of a dominant negative mutant form of Mst1 (DN-Mst1) in the heart did not affect baseline heart function, but improved myocardial outcome after experimental MI. In post-MI Dn-Mst1 hearts, there was reduced cardiomyocyte apoptosis, reduced fibrosis, and preserved systolic contraction (Yamamoto et al., 2003; Odashima et al., 2007). Neither Mst1 overexpression nor dominant negative inhibition altered cardiomyocyte size. These studies demonstrate that Mst1 activation promotes cardiomyocyte apoptosis, and that this activation adversely affects myocardial outcome after MI. Effects on Yap activity or cardiac regeneration were not directly examined, and indeed Mst1 may exert its effects through alternative pathways. For instance, cardiac Mst1 overexpression was shown to inhibit autophagy through phosphorylation of Beclin1 (Maejima et al., 2013).

Like Mst1 overexpression, Lats2 overexpression also caused heart dysfunction and reduced heart size (Matsui et al., 2008). However, the underlying mechanism appeared different, as Lats2 overexpression did not increase baseline cardiomyocyte apoptosis but rather reduced cardiomyocyte size. A predisposition of Lats2-overexpressing cardiomyocytes to apoptosis was unmasked by pressure overload stress induced by transverse aortic constriction (TAC). Consistent with these results, dominant negative Lats2 increased heart weight, induced cardiomyocyte hypertrophy, and suppressed TAC-induced apoptosis. The downstream targets phosphorylated by Lats2 that mediate these effects on cardiac growth and apoptosis were not established in these studies. Since Yap regulates both of these endpoints, it is likely to be essential to implement these effects of Lats2 in the heart. However, other Lats2 substrates may also play important roles. A caveat to these experiments is the transgenic overexpression strategy, which may lead to non-physiological effects. For example, a recent study of adult stage, cardiac-specific Lats1/2 loss of function showed that this genetic manipulation led to reduced cardiomyocyte size (Heallen et al., 2013), unlike transgenic dominant negative Lats2, which caused cardiomyocyte hypertrophy (Matsui et al., 2008).

The function of Yap in postnatal cardiac hypertrophy and apoptosis has been interrogated through genetic gain and loss of function approaches. Two independent studies showed that late fetal cardiac *Yap* inactivation caused dilated cardiomyopathy and premature death (Xin et al., 2013; Del Re et al., 2013). Total cardiomyocyte number was not significantly changed in Yap deficient hearts, suggesting that the major requirement of *Yap* to regulate heart size occurs early in heart development, and that myocardial hypoplasia was not a major cause of impaired heart function. *Yap* loss of function increased cardiomyocyte apoptosis rate, implicating pro-survival activity of *Yap* in postnatal cardiac homeostasis, although these measurements were made in severely failing hearts and it is not possible to discern if elevated apoptosis caused, or was an effect of, cardiac insufficiency. Del Re et al. also reported that Yap promotes cardiomyocyte hypertrophy after MI, based on reduced cardiomyocyte size in the remote area of post-MI hearts with cardiac Yap haploinsufficiency (Del Re et al., 2013). However, analysis of genetic mosaics showed that Yap inactivation in a small fraction of cardiomyocytes did not change the size of those cardiomyocytes or their hypertrophic response to pressure overload, indicating that Yap is not cell autonomously required for cardiomyocyte hypertrophy in response to pressure overload (von Gise et al., 2012). Furthermore, Yap activation in the postnatal heart did not drive cardiomyocyte hypertrophy (von Gise et al., 2012; Xin et al., 2013). As with Yap overexpression, cardiac-specific Tead1 overexpression also did not trigger cardiac hypertrophy (Tsika et al., 2010). These *Tead1* overexpressing mice showed an age dependent heart dysfunction phenotype, and their hearts were extremely sensitive to pressure overload.

Taken together, we conclude that *Lats* may regulate adult cardiomyocyte hypertrophy independent of *Yap* or *Tead1*. Rather than controlling cardiac hypertrophic growth, the canonical Hippo/Yap pathway is crucial for regulation of cardiomyocyte survival in the adult heart. This parallels the findings in *Drosophila* post-mitotic neurons, where *Warts* and *Lats* but not Yki were required for the maintenance of dendrites (Emoto et al., 2006). The proteins and pathways through which *Lats* may regulate cardiomyocyte hypertrophic growth are currently unknown.

Hippo/Yap in heart regeneration

The finding that Hippo/Yap signaling powerfully regulates fetal heart growth and cardiomyocyte proliferation (von Gise et al., 2012; Heallen et al., 2011; Xin et al., 2011), and that Yap gain of function extends neonatal cardiomyocyte cell cycle activity in vivo (von Gise et al., 2012) raised the exciting possibility that this signaling pathway could be redeployed to promote adult heart regeneration and repair.

Initial studies on the Hippo kinase cascade and Yap suggest that this pathway remains an important regulator of cardiomyocyte cell cycle activity in the postnatal heart, although Yap's potency in driving cardiomyocyte proliferation wanes with cardiomyocyte maturation. We showed that overexpression of activated Yap beginning at E8.5 dramatically stimulated cardiomyocyte proliferation (von Gise et al., 2012). In the newborn heart, Yap1 continued to drive cardiomyocyte proliferation, although the extent of cardiomyocyte proliferation was far less than the observed in early heart development (von Gise et al., 2012; Xin et al., 2013). Consistent with the stage-dependent sensitivity of cardiomyocytes to Yap-induced proliferation, overexpression of Yap under control of the β MHC promoter, which initiates a few days after E8.5, resulted in less extensive cardiac overgrowth, and these transgenic mice were viable to adulthood (Xin et al., 2011).

The newborn mouse heart retains the ability to regenerate from myocardial injury, but this regenerative capacity is lost by postnatal day 7 (P7) (Porrello et al., 2011). Given the ability of Yap to promote neonatal cardiomyocyte proliferation, Xin, Olson, and colleagues tested the ability of Yap activation to prolong the regenerative window (Xin et al., 2013). P7 neonatal wild type and α MHC–aYAP transgenic mice underwent LAD ligation. Twenty-one days later, wild type mice showed extensive scar formation, loss of myocardial tissue, and ventricular dilation, while the α MHC– α YAP mice had regenerated the infarcted myocardium with minimal scar tissue. Consistent with these data, inactivating Yap negative regulators *Sav1* or *Lats1/2* also increased cardiomyocyte proliferation in the neonatal heart and extended the neonatal regenerative window (Heallen et al., 2013). These data suggest that neonatal inactivation of Hippo pathway kinases or activation of Yap is sufficient to maintain the proliferative competence of neonatal cardiomyocyte in a manner that enhances neonatal cardiac regeneration.

Stimulating adult cardiomyocyte cell cycle re-entry has proven to be far more challenging than increasing fetal cardiomyocyte proliferation or delaying the time of neonatal cardiomyocyte cell cycle withdrawal. Thus a crucial question is whether or not Yap activation can promote adult heart regeneration and stimulate adult cardiomyocyte proliferation. When 28-day old α MHC $-\alpha$ Yap mice or wild type controls were challenged with myocardial infarction (MI), Yap transgenic mice showed better preservation of heart function and smaller scar size at 21 day post-MI (Xin et al., 2013). α MHC- α YAP mice had 2.5-fold higher cardiomyocyte proliferation compared to wild-type control post-MI. However, the extent of adult cardiomyocyte proliferation was limited cardiomyocyte proliferation stimulated by expression of activated Yap in adult cardiomyocytes was twenty-fold lower than the rate observed in neonatal wild-type mice. These data suggest that Yap activation in the adult heart does promote cardiomyocyte proliferation, although the level of proliferation may be insufficient to support meaningful cardiac regeneration. Yap-dependent modulation of other processes, such as reduction of apoptosis (Xin et al., 2013), likely contributes to the salutary effect of Yap after MI.

The effect of *Sav1* or *Lats1/2* inactivation on adult cardiomyocyte proliferation has also been examined. Inactivation of these Hippo pathway components in the adult heart increased cardiomyocyte DNA synthesis and karyokinesis (Heallen et al., 2013). Qualitatively, the result was similar to what was observed in Yap gain of function (Xin et al., 2013). However, inactivation of *Sav1* or *Lats1/2* caused quantitatively much higher levels of cardiomyocyte cell cycle activity (~2.5% EdU⁺ cardiomyocytes after 4 days of labeling). This discrepancy may be due to the different experimental methods used by the two groups, or it might suggest that the Hippo pathway regulates proliferation through additional targets other than Yap.

The contribution of resident cardiac progenitors in adult heart homeostasis, and their potential recruitment for therapeutic heart regeneration, has been widely debated (Kajstura et al., 2008; Bergmann et al., 2009; Senyo et al., 2013; Hsieh et al., 2007). The Hippo–Yap pathway plays a critical role in the multipotency and differentiation of embryonic stem cells, neuronal progenitors, and intestinal stem cells (Lian et al., 2010; Cao et al., 2008; Cai et al., 2010; Barry et al., 2013). These data suggest that Hippo–Yap may modulate cardiac progenitor activity. However, since most animal models used to study the cardiac function of this pathway (Table 1), they have primarily used cardiomyocyte-specific drivers that are presumed to be inactive in cardiac progenitors, experimental data on Hippo–Yap signaling in cardiac progenitors is currently lacking. Clarifying the contribution of resident cardiac progenitors to adult heart homeostasis and their potential redeployment for therapeutic heart regeneration, and the function of Hippo/Yap in this processes, are clearly priorities for future studies.

Concluding comments: harnessing Hippo/Yap for heart disease therapy

The fetal heart enlarges through hyperplastic growth. At this developmental stage, the heart is similar with other organs, such as liver or skin, and its size is controlled by Hippo/Yap signaling. Shortly after birth, cardiomyocytes largely exit the cell cycle, and the heart increases its size by hyper-trophic rather than hyperplastic growth. The Hippo/Yap pathway continues to influence heart size by regulating cardiomyocyte proliferation in the newborn mice, but it has less of an effect on adult cardiomyocyte proliferation. In addition to cardiomyocyte proliferation, Hippo Kinases also regulate cardiac hypertrophic growth. Hippo/Yap signaling also influences cardiomyocyte autophagy and apoptosis.

The studies summarized in this review demonstrate the importance of the Hippo/Yap pathway in the regulation of heart growth during fetal development. Modulation of this pathway in the neonatal heart prolongs the neonatal regenerative window, highlighting the potential for enhancing cardiac regeneration. Yap activation in the injured adult heart is also beneficial at least in the short-term, although stimulation of cardiomyocyte proliferation was modest and additional mechanisms are also likely to contribute. Over the past two decades, many paracrine factors and their pathways have been found to stimulate cardiomyocyte proliferation, such as IGF1 (Duerr et al., 1995), perisotin (Kuhn et al., 2007), neuregulin (Baliga et al., 1999; Bersell et al., 2009), and fibroblast growth factor (Engel et al., 2005). However, these agents also cause cardiomyocyte hypertrophy (Baliga et al., 1999; McMullen et al., 2004; House et al., 2010; Oka et al., 2007), which may be deleterious to heart function in the long run. When compared with the other signaling pathways involved in cardiac repair, the Hippo/Yap pathway stands out by promoting cardiomyocyte proliferative growth and enhancing myocardial recovery after MI without stimulating cardiomyocyte hypertrophy.

A number of major questions remain, and the answers have important implications for our understanding of adult cardiomyocyte homeostasis and the therapeutic potential of Hippo/ Yap pathway modulation for cardiac repair and regeneration.

Why does Yap stimulation of cardiomyocyte proliferation wane from fetal to neonatal to adult heart? One possibility is that Yap activation alone is insufficient to overcome the multiple barriers to postnatal cardiomyocyte cell cycle activity. Another possibility is that unknown factors block Yap activity in the adult heart. Future work addressing this question may further our understanding of Hippo/Yap pathway regulation and allow us to develop strategies to augment Yap-driven cardiac regeneration regulation.

Why does inactivation of Yap in the late fetal heart cause progressive, lethal dilated cardiomyopathy? Does this reflect a developmental defect that becomes expressed postnatally, or an ongoing requirement for Yap in the maintenance of adult heart function? Current data from the failing adult heart suggests that Yap is required to suppress cardiomyocyte apoptosis. However, cardiomyocyte number in these failing hearts was not detectably reduced. Perhaps Yap has additional roles in the postnatal cardiomyocyte, as it does in the *Drosophila* eye (Jukam et al., 2013).

Finally, a prerequisite to considering modulation of the Hippo/Yap pathway for therapeutic cardiac regeneration is a demonstration that this can be done without induction of tumors, since activation of Yap is highly oncogenic in proliferative tissues such as skin or liver. Presently, the long term safety of Yap activation in cardiomyocytes has not been reported. Furthermore, approaches need to be developed to stimulate Yap in cardiomyocytes and not in other tissues or organs. This might be achieved by the identification of beneficial downstream genes regulated by Hippo/Yap, which may yield more cardiac-selective drug targets. Alternatively, localized or cell-type specific drug or gene delivery technologies may be used to achieve cardiomyocyte-specific Yap activation.

Acknowledgments

WTP was supported by funding from the NIH (HL116461 and HL100401) and by an American Heart Association (Z.L. AHA: 12POST9580001) Established Investigator Award, and by charitable donations from Gail Federici Smith, Edward Marram, and Karen Carpenter. ZL was supported by a postdoctoral fellowship from the American Heart Association.

References

- Adler, J.J., Johnson, D.E., Heller, B.L., Bringman, L.R., Ranahan, W.P., Conwell, M.D., Sun, Y., Hudmon, A., Wells, C.D., 2013. Serum deprivation inhibits the transcriptional co-activator YAP and cell growth via phosphorylation of the 130-kDa isoform of angiomotin by the LATS1/2 protein kinases. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 110, 17368–17373.
- Baliga, R.R., Pimental, D.R., Zhao, Y.Y., Simmons, W.W., Marchionni, M.A., Sawyer, D.B., Kelly, R.A., 1999. NRG-1-induced cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. Role of PI-3-kinase, p70(S6K), and MEK–MAPK– RSK. Am. J. Physiol. 277, H2026–H2037.
- Barry, E.R., Morikawa, T., Butler, B.L., Shrestha, K., de la Rosa, R., Yan, K.S., Fuchs, C.S., Magness, S.T., Smits, R., Ogino, S., Kuo, C.J., Camargo, F.D., 2013. Restriction of intestinal stem cell expansion and the regenerative response by YAP. Nature 493, 106–110.
- Bergmann, O., Bhardwaj, R.D., Bernard, S., Zdunek, S., Barnabe-Heider, F., Walsh, S., Zupicich, J., Alkass, K., Buchholz, B.A., Druid, H., Jovinge, S., Frisen, J., 2009. Evidence for cardiomyocyte renewal in humans. Science 324, 98–102.
- Bersell, K., Arab, S., Haring, B., Kuhn, B., 2009. Neuregulin1/ErbB4 signaling induces cardiomyocyte proliferation and repair of heart injury. Cell 138, 257–270.
- Brunet, A., Kanai, F., Stehn, J., Xu, J., Sarbassova, D., Frangioni, J.V., Dalal, S.N., DeCaprio, J.A., Greenberg, M.E., Yaffe, M.B., 2002. 14-3-3 transits to the nucleus and participates in dynamic nucleocytoplasmic transport. J. Cell Biol. 156, 817–828.
- Cai, J., Zhang, N., Zheng, Y., de Wilde, R.F., Maitra, A., Pan, D., 2010. The Hippo signaling pathway restricts the oncogenic potential of an intestinal regeneration program. Genes Dev. 24, 2383–2388.
- Camargo, F.D., Gokhale, S., Johnnidis, J.B., Fu, D., Bell, G.W., Jaenisch, R., Brummelkamp, T.R., 2007. YAP1 increases organ

size and expands undifferentiated progenitor cells. Curr. Biol. 17, 2054–2060.

- Cao, X., Pfaff, S.L., Gage, F.H., 2008. YAP regulates neural progenitor cell number via the TEA domain transcription factor. Genes Dev. 22, 3320–3334.
- Chan, S.W., Lim, C.J., Guo, F., Tan, I., Leung, T., Hong, W., 2013. Actin-binding and cell proliferation activities of angiomotin family members are regulated by Hippo pathway-mediated phosphorylation. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 37296–37307.
- Chen, Z., Friedrich, G.A., Soriano, P., 1994. Transcriptional enhancer factor 1 disruption by a retroviral gene trap leads to heart defects and embryonic lethality in mice. Genes Dev. 8, 2293–2301.
- Creasy, C.L., Chernoff, J., 1995. Cloning and characterization of a human protein kinase with homology to Ste20. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 21695–21700.
- Dai, X., She, P., Chi, F., Feng, Y., Liu, H., Jin, D., Zhao, Y., Guo, X., Jiang, D., Guan, K.L., Zhong, T.P., Zhao, B., 2013. Phosphorylation of angiomotin by Lats1/2 kinases inhibits F-actin binding, cell migration and angiogenesis. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 34041–34051.
- Dargie, H., 2005. Heart failure post-myocardial infarction: a review of the issues. Heart 91 (Suppl. 2), ii3–ii6 (discussion ii31, ii43-8).
- Del Re, D.P., Yang, Y., Nakano, N., Cho, J., Zhai, P., Yamamoto, T., Zhang, N., Yabuta, N., Nojima, H., Pan, D., Sadoshima, J., 2013. Yes-associated protein isoform 1 (Yap1) promotes cardiomyocyte survival and growth to protect against myocardial ischemic injury. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 3977–3988.
- Dong, J., Feldmann, G., Huang, J., Wu, S., Zhang, N., Comerford, S.A., Gayyed, M.F., Anders, R.A., Maitra, A., Pan, D., 2007. Elucidation of a universal size-control mechanism in *Drosophila* and mammals. Cell 130, 1120–1133.
- Duerr, R.L., Huang, S., Miraliakbar, H.R., Clark, R., Chien, K.R., Ross, J.J., 1995. Insulin-like growth factor-1 enhances ventricular hypertrophy and function during the onset of experimental cardiac failure. J. Clin. Invest. 95, 619–627.
- Dupont, S., Morsut, L., Aragona, M., Enzo, E., Giulitti, S., Cordenonsi, M., Zanconato, F., Le Digabel, J., Forcato, M., Bicciato, S., Elvassore, N., Piccolo, S., 2011. Role of YAP/TAZ in mechanotransduction. Nature 474, 179–183.
- Eckardt, N.A., 2001. Transcription factors dial 14-3-3 for nuclear shuttle. Plant Cell 13, 2385–2389.
- Emoto, K., Parrish, J.Z., Jan, L.Y., Jan, Y.N., 2006. The tumour suppressor Hippo acts with the NDR kinases in dendritic tiling and maintenance. Nature 443, 210–213.
- Engel, F.B., Schebesta, M., Duong, M.T., Lu, G., Ren, S., Madwed, J.B., Jiang, H., Wang, Y., Keating, M.T., 2005. p38 MAP kinase inhibition enables proliferation of adult mammalian cardiomyocytes. Genes Dev. 19, 1175–1187.
- Fernandez, B.G., Gaspar, P., Bras-Pereira, C., Jezowska, B., Rebelo, S.R., Janody, F., 2011. Actin-capping protein and the Hippo pathway regulate F-actin and tissue growth in *Drosophila*. Development 138, 2337–2346.
- Hamaratoglu, F., Willecke, M., Kango-Singh, M., Nolo, R., Hyun, E., Tao, C., Jafar-Nejad, H., Halder, G., 2006. The tumour-suppressor genes NF2/merlin and expanded act through Hippo signalling to regulate cell proliferation and apoptosis. Nat. Cell Biol. 8, 27–36.
- Heallen, T., Zhang, M., Wang, J., Bonilla-Claudio, M., Klysik, E., Johnson, R.L., Martin, J.F., 2011. Hippo pathway inhibits Wnt signaling to restrain cardiomyocyte proliferation and heart size. Science 332, 458–461.
- Heallen, T., Morikawa, Y., Leach, J., Tao, G., Willerson, J.T., Johnson, R.L., Martin, J.F., 2013. Hippo signaling impedes adult heart regeneration. Development 140, 4683–4690.
- House, S.L., House, B.E., Glascock, B., Kimball, T., Nusayr, E., Schultz, J.E., Doetschman, T., 2010. Fibroblast growth factor 2 mediates isoproterenol-induced cardiac hypertrophy through activation of the extracellular regulated Kinase. Mol. Cell. Pharmacol. 2, 143–154.

- Hsieh, P.C., Segers, V.F., Davis, M.E., MacGillivray, C., Gannon, J., Molkentin, J.D., Robbins, J., Lee, R.T., 2007. Evidence from a genetic fate-mapping study that stem cells refresh adult mammalian cardiomyocytes after injury. Nat. Med. 13, 970–974.
- Huang, J., Wu, S., Barrera, J., Matthews, K., Pan, D., 2005. The Hippo signaling pathway coordinately regulates cell proliferation and apoptosis by inactivating Yorkie, the *Drosophila* Homolog of YAP. Cell 122, 421–434.
- Imajo, M., Miyatake, K., Iimura, A., Miyamoto, A., Nishida, E., 2012. A molecular mechanism that links Hippo signalling to the inhibition of Wnt/beta-catenin signalling. EMBO J. 31, 1109–1122.
- Jukam, D., Xie, B., Rister, J., Terrell, D., Charlton-Perkins, M., Pistillo, D., Gebelein, B., Desplan, C., Cook, T., 2013. Opposite feedbacks in the Hippo pathway for growth control and neural fate. Science 342, 1238016.
- Kajstura, J., Hosoda, T., Bearzi, C., Rota, M., Maestroni, S., Urbanek, K., Leri, A., Anversa, P., 2008. The human heart: a self-renewing organ. Clin. Transl. Sci. 1, 80–86.
- Konsavage, W.M.J., Kyler, S.L., Rennoll, S.A., Jin, G., Yochum, G.S., 2012. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling regulates Yes-associated protein (YAP) gene expression in colorectal carcinoma cells. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 11730–11739.
- Kuhn, B., del Monte, F., Hajjar, R.J., Chang, Y.S., Lebeche, D., Arab, S., Keating, M.T., 2007. Periostin induces proliferation of differentiated cardiomyocytes and promotes cardiac repair. Nat. Med. 13, 962–969.
- Lai, Z.C., Wei, X., Shimizu, T., Ramos, E., Rohrbaugh, M., Nikolaidis, N., Ho, L.L., Li, Y., 2005. Control of cell proliferation and apoptosis by mob as tumor suppressor, mats. Cell 120, 675–685.
- Lian, I., Kim, J., Okazawa, H., Zhao, J., Zhao, B., Yu, J., Chinnaiyan, A., Israel, M.A., Goldstein, L.S., Abujarour, R., Ding, S., Guan, K.L., 2010. The role of YAP transcription coactivator in regulating stem cell self-renewal and differentiation. Genes Dev. 24, 1106–1118.
- Maejima, Y., Kyoi, S., Zhai, P., Liu, T., Li, H., Ivessa, A., Sciarretta, S., Del Re, D.P., Zablocki, D.K., Hsu, C.P., Lim, D.S., Isobe, M., Sadoshima, J., 2013. Mst1 inhibits autophagy by promoting the interaction between Beclin1 and Bcl-2. Nat. Med. 19, 1478–1488.
- Matallanas, D., Romano, D., Hamilton, G., Kolch, W., O'Neill, E., 2008. A Hippo in the ointment: MST signalling beyond the fly. Cell Cycle 7, 879–884.
- Matsui, Y., Nakano, N., Shao, D., Gao, S., Luo, W., Hong, C., Zhai, P., Holle, E., Yu, X., Yabuta, N., Tao, W., Wagner, T., Nojima, H., Sadoshima, J., 2008. Lats2 is a negative regulator of myocyte size in the heart. Circ. Res. 103, 1309–1318.
- McMullen, J.R., Shioi, T., Huang, W.Y., Zhang, L., Tarnavski, O., Bisping, E., Schinke, M., Kong, S., Sherwood, M.C., Brown, J., Riggi, L., Kang, P.M., Izumo, S., 2004. The insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor induces physiological heart growth via the phosphoinositide 3-kinase(p110alpha) pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 4782–4793.
- Mehra, M.R., Uber, P.A., Francis, G.S., 2003. Heart failure therapy at a crossroad: are there limits to the neurohormonal model? J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 41, 1606–1610.
- Odashima, M., Usui, S., Takagi, H., Hong, C., Liu, J., Yokota, M., Sadoshima, J., 2007. Inhibition of endogenous Mst1 prevents apoptosis and cardiac dysfunction without affecting cardiac hypertrophy after myocardial infarction. Circ. Res. 100, 1344–1352.
- Oka, T., Xu, J., Kaiser, R.A., Melendez, J., Hambleton, M., Sargent, M.A., Lorts, A., Brunskill, E.W., GWn, Dorn, Conway, S.J., Aronow, B.J., Robbins, J., Molkentin, J.D., 2007. Genetic manipulation of periostin expression reveals a role in cardiac hypertrophy and ventricular remodeling. Circ. Res. 101, 313–321.
- Pan, D., 2007. Hippo signaling in organ size control. Genes Dev. 21, 886–897.

- Pobbati, A.V., Hong, W., 2013. Emerging roles of TEAD transcription factors and its coactivators in cancers. Cancer Biol. Ther. 14, 390–398.
- Porrello, E.R., Mahmoud, A.I., Simpson, E., Hill, J.A., Richardson, J.A., Olson, E.N., Sadek, H.A., 2011. Transient regenerative potential of the neonatal mouse heart. Science 331, 1078–1080.
- Schlegelmilch, K., Mohseni, M., Kirak, O., Pruszak, J., Rodriguez, J.R., Zhou, D., Kreger, B.T., Vasioukhin, V., Avruch, J., Brummelkamp, T.R., Camargo, F.D., 2011. Yap1 acts downstream of alpha-catenin to control epidermal proliferation. Cell 144, 782–795.
- Senyo, S.E., Steinhauser, M.L., Pizzimenti, C.L., Yang, V.K., Cai, L., Wang, M., Wu, T.D., Guerquin-Kern, J.L., Lechene, C.P., Lee, R.T., 2013. Mammalian heart renewal by pre-existing cardiomyocytes. Nature 493, 433–436.
- Sudol, M., 1994. Yes-associated protein (YAP65) is a proline-rich phosphoprotein that binds to the SH3 domain of the Yes protooncogene product. Oncogene 9, 2145–2152.
- Tao, W., Zhang, S., Turenchalk, G.S., Stewart, R.A., St John, M.A., Chen, W., Xu, T., 1999. Human homologue of the *Drosophila* melanogaster lats tumour suppressor modulates CDC2 activity. Nat. Genet. 21, 177–181.
- Tapon, N., Harvey, K.F., Bell, D.W., Wahrer, D.C., Schiripo, T.A., Haber, D., Hariharan, I.K., 2002. Salvador promotes both cell cycle exit and apoptosis in *Drosophila* and is mutated in human cancer cell lines. Cell 110, 467–478.
- Tomlinson, V., Gudmundsdottir, K., Luong, P., Leung, K.Y., Knebel, A., Basu, S., 2010. JNK phosphorylates Yes-associated protein (YAP) to regulate apoptosis. Cell Death Dis. 1, e29.
- Tsika, R.W., Ma, L., Kehat, I., Schramm, C., Simmer, G., Morgan, B., Fine, D.M., Hanft, L.M., McDonald, K.S., Molkentin, J.D., Krenz, M., Yang, S., Ji, J., 2010. TEAD-1 overexpression in the mouse heart promotes an age-dependent heart dysfunction. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 13721–13735.
- von Gise, A., Lin, Z., Schlegelmilch, K., Honor, L.B., Pan, G.M., Buck, J.N., Ma, Q., Ishiwata, T., Zhou, B., Camargo, F.D., Pu, W.T., 2012. YAP1, the nuclear target of Hippo signaling, stimulates heart growth through cardiomyocyte proliferation but not hypertrophy. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 109, 2394–2399.
- Wang, K., Degerny, C., Xu, M., Yang, X.J., 2009. YAP, TAZ, and Yorkie: a conserved family of signal-responsive transcriptional coregulators in animal development and human disease. Biochem. Cell Biol. 87, 77–91.
- Wang, J., Park, J.S., Wei, Y., Rajurkar, M., Cotton, J.L., Fan, Q., Lewis, B.C., Ji, H., Mao, J., 2013. TRIB2 acts downstream of Wnt/TCF in liver cancer cells to regulate YAP and C/EBPalpha function. Mol. Cell 51, 211–225.
- Wu, S., Huang, J., Dong, J., Pan, D., 2003. Hippo encodes a Ste-20 family protein kinase that restricts cell proliferation and promotes apoptosis in conjunction with salvador and warts. Cell 114, 445–456.
- Wu, S., Liu, Y., Zheng, Y., Dong, J., Pan, D., 2008. The TEAD/TEF family protein Scalloped mediates transcriptional output of the Hippo growth-regulatory pathway. Dev. Cell 14, 388–398.
- Xiao, J.H., Davidson, I., Matthes, H., Garnier, J.M., Chambon, P., 1991. Cloning, expression, and transcriptional properties of the human enhancer factor TEF-1. Cell 65, 551–568.
- Xin, M., Kim, Y., Sutherland, L.B., Qi, X., McAnally, J., Schwartz, R.J., Richardson, J.A., Bassel-Duby, R., Olson, E.N., 2011. Regulation of insulin-like growth factor signaling by Yap governs cardiomyocyte proliferation and embryonic heart size. Sci. Signal. 4, ra70.
- Xin, M., Kim, Y., Sutherland, L.B., Murakami, M., Qi, X., McAnally, J., Porrello, E.R., Mahmoud, A.I., Tan, W., Shelton, J.M., Richardson, J.A., Sadek, H.A., Bassel-Duby, R., Olson, E.N., 2013. Hippo pathway effector Yap promotes cardiac regeneration. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 110, 13839–13844.
- Xu, T., Wang, W., Zhang, S., Stewart, R.A., Yu, W., 1995. Identifying tumor suppressors in genetic mosaics: the *Drosophila* lats

gene encodes a putative protein kinase. Development 121, 1053–1063.

- Yamamoto, S., Yang, G., Zablocki, D., Liu, J., Hong, C., Kim, S.J., Soler, S., Odashima, M., Thaisz, J., Yehia, G., Molina, C.A., Yatani, A., Vatner, D.E., Vatner, S.F., Sadoshima, J., 2003. Activation of Mst1 causes dilated cardiomyopathy by stimulating apoptosis without compensatory ventricular myocyte hypertrophy. J. Clin. Invest. 111, 1463–1474.
- Yin, F., Yu, J., Zheng, Y., Chen, Q., Zhang, N., Pan, D., 2013. Spatial organization of Hippo signaling at the plasma membrane mediated by the tumor suppressor Merlin/NF2. Cell 154, 1342–1355.
- Yoshida, T., 2008. MCAT elements and the TEF-1 family of transcription factors in muscle development and disease. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 28, 8–17.
- Yu, F.X., Guan, K.L., 2013. The Hippo pathway: regulators and regulations. Genes Dev. 27, 355–371.
- Yu, F.X., Zhao, B., Panupinthu, N., Jewell, J.L., Lian, I., Wang, L.H., Zhao, J., Yuan, H., Tumaneng, K., Li, H., Fu, X.D., Mills, G.B., Guan, K.L., 2012. Regulation of the Hippo–YAP pathway by Gprotein-coupled receptor signaling. Cell 150, 780–791.
- Zaidi, S.K., Sullivan, A.J., Medina, R., Ito, Y., van Wijnen, A.J., Stein, J.L., Lian, J.B., Stein, G.S., 2004. Tyrosine phosphorylation controls Runx2-mediated subnuclear targeting of YAP to repress transcription. EMBO J. 23, 790–799.

- Zhang, L., Ren, F., Zhang, Q., Chen, Y., Wang, B., Jiang, J., 2008. The TEAD/TEF family of transcription factor Scalloped mediates Hippo signaling in organ size control. Dev. Cell 14, 377–387.
- Zhao, B., Wei, X., Li, W., Udan, R.S., Yang, Q., Kim, J., Xie, J., Ikenoue, T., Yu, J., Li, L., Zheng, P., Ye, K., Chinnaiyan, A., Halder, G., Lai, Z.C., Guan, K.L., 2007. Inactivation of YAP oncoprotein by the Hippo pathway is involved in cell contact inhibition and tissue growth control. Genes Dev. 21, 2747–2761.
- Zhao, B., Ye, X., Yu, J., Li, L., Li, W., Li, S., Yu, J., Lin, J.D., Wang, C.Y., Chinnaiyan, A.M., Lai, Z.C., Guan, K.L., 2008. TEAD mediates YAP-dependent gene induction and growth control. Genes Dev. 22, 1962–1971.
- Zhao, B., Li, L., Lei, Q., Guan, K.L., 2010. The Hippo–YAP pathway in organ size control and tumorigenesis: an updated version. Genes Dev. 24, 862–874.
- Zhao, B., Li, L., Lu, Q., Wang, L.H., Liu, C.Y., Lei, Q., Guan, K.L., 2011. Angiomotin is a novel Hippo pathway component that inhibits YAP oncoprotein. Genes Dev. 25, 51–63.
- Zhou, B., Lin, Z., Pu, W.T., 2012. Mammalian myocardial regeneration. In: Hill, J.A., Olson, E. (Eds.), Muscle: Fundamental Biology and Mechanisms of Disease. Elsevier, pp. 555–569.